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Proving Willfulness in an
FBAR Case
By Steven Toscher and Lacey Strachan

Steven Toscher and Lacey Strachan examine the willfulness
standard which will likely be applied in FBAR cases and why the
mere signing of a Form 1040 with a Schedule B is not enough.
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s the IRS and the Department of Justice (DOJ)
launch into examinations, investigations and
prosecutions of individuals who had foreign
bank accounts but failed to file the required Form
TD F 90-22.1, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial
Accounts (the FBAR), a key determination in proving
the case—be it a criminal violation or a willful civil
violation—is whether the government can establish
the failure to file the FBAR form was “willful.” Both
the IRS and the DOJ often rely on the fact that the
taxpayer
p y signed a Form 1040 with a Schedule B
which
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While this is an argument, it is not enough under the
law to prove willfulness. The government must prove
more. This is especially important given the steep
penalties that may be imposed for a civil violation and
the risk of a criminal prosecution for a willful failure
to file an FBAR. Under 31 USC §5322(a), a person
who is convicted of willfully failing to file an FBAR
potentially faces up to five years in prison.1 Given the
very few criminal prosecutions for willful failure to
file the FBAR and the relatively few times the willful
FBAR penalty has been asserted under the law, there
are few reported decisions or guidance as to what
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the government must establish. This article sets forth
the willfulness standard which will likely be applied
in FBAR cases and why the mere signing of a Form
1040 with a Schedule B is not enough.

Burden of Proof
In all cases, the IRS has the burden of proving willfulness.2 To be convicted of a felony for failing to file
an FBAR under 31 USC §5322(a), the government
must prove willfulness beyond a reasonable doubt—a
higher standard of proof than is needed to impose
the civil penalty.
In the civil context, the standard of proof is less
settled. In a Chief Counsel Advice (CCA) memorandum
du
m released
releassed
d JJanuary 20, 2006, analyzing the issue
willfulness
of wi
lfulneesss in the FBAR context, the IRS compared
the burden of proof for the civil FBAR penalty to the
burden of proof for the civil fraud penalty under Code
Sec. 6663, explaining that it expects the standard of
proof will be the same—clear and convincing evidence, not merely a preponderance of the evidence.3
However, in the more recently decided civil FBAR case
J.B. Williams, the court applied the preponderance of
the evidence standard.4 However, we note that the
standard of proof applied in that case would have been
immaterial to the holding, because the court held that
the government in that case did not meet even the low
preponderance of the evidence standard.5

Willfulness Defined
Although the FBAR statute is not part of the Internal
Revenue Code, guidance may be drawn from courts’
interpretations of the willfulness standard in tax
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cases. Willfulness has been defined by the courts as
a “voluntary, intentional violation of a known legal
duty.”6 The Ninth Circuit has explained that “[w]illfulness, as construed by our prior decisions in criminal
tax cases, requires the Government to prove that
the law imposed a duty on the defendant, that the
defendant knew of this duty, and that he voluntarily
and intentionally violated that duty.”7 In a criminal
FBAR case, D.A. Sturman, the Sixth Circuit applied
the tax law definition of willfulness in determining
whether a defendant violated the FBAR reporting
requirements, holding that the “test for statutory
willfulness is voluntary, intentional violation of a
known legal duty.”8

The IRS’s Interpretation of Willfulness
In the Internal Revenue Manual, the IRS suggests
that “willful” carries the same meaning in the FBAR
context as in the criminal tax context. It states that,
for application of the FBAR willfulness penalty, “the
test for willfulness is whether there was a voluntary, intentional violation of a known legal duty.”9
It explains that willfulness is shown by the person’s
knowledge of the reporting requirements and the
person’s conscious choice not to comply with the
10
requirements.
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reporting situations. Consistent with the Internal
Revenue Manual, the IRS concludes that “willful” in
the civil penalty statute has the same meaning and
interpretation as under the criminal penalty statute.11
The CCA reasons that because the word “willful” is
used in both sections, statutory construction rules
suggest that the same word used in related sections
should be consistently construed.12
After analyzing the Supreme Court structuring case
W. Ratzlaf,13 the CCA concludes that the willfulness
standard under the Bank Secrecy Act requires the
government to prove that the defendant had acted
with knowledge that his conduct was unlawful—a
“voluntary intentional, violation of a known legal
duty.”14 In the FBAR context, the IRS interprets this
definition to mean that it would only need to establish
that the taxpayer had knowledge of the duty to file the
FBAR, because knowledge of the duty to file an FBAR
would necessarily entail knowledge that it is illegal
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not to file the FBAR.15 The corollary of this principle is
that there is no willfulness if the account holder has
no knowledge of the duty to file the FBAR.

Judicial Interpretations of Willfulness
In the CCA, the IRS relied on the Supreme Court
case W. Ratzlaf, which is a key case interpreting the
term “willful” with respect to the Bank Secrecy Act’s
criminal structuring statute. This decision is especially
pertinent in the FBAR context because it interprets
the term willful as used in 31 USC §5322—the same
section that makes a willful failure to file an FBAR a
felony. The Supreme Court explained that the term
willful “consistently has been read by the Courts of
Appeals to require both knowledge of the reporting
requirement and a specific intent to commit the
crime.”16 It cites a collection of cases that have interpreted 31 USC §5322(a)’s “willfulness” requirement,
with definitions including: a “purpose to disobey
the law,” a “voluntary, intentional, and bad purpose
to disobey the law,” and “knowledge of the reporting requirement and [a] specific intent to commit
the crime.”17 Ratzlaf held that the government must
prove that the defendant acted with knowledge that
his conduct was unlawful.18
D.A. Sturman is a Sixth Circuit case, decided in
1991, that upheld a defendant’s conviction on a
count of willfully failing to maintain records and file
reports as required under 31 USC §5314.19 On appeal,
the defendant argued that the prosecution failed to
show
show
w that
that hee was
w aware of the Form TD F 90-22.1
20
fi
filling
ing requirements.
require
em
The court defined the willfulness standard as a “voluntary, intentional violation of
a known legal duty,” citing the tax case J.L. Cheek,21
498 U.S. 192 (1991), and explained that “[w]illfulness may be proven through inference from conduct
meant to conceal or mislead sources of income or
other financial information.”22
In Sturman, the defendant admitted knowledge
of and failure to answer the question on Schedule
B of his Form 1040 concerning signature authority
at foreign banks.23 The Sixth Circuit upheld the conviction, holding that “[e]vidence of acts to conceal
income and financial information, combined with
the defendant’s failure to pursue knowledge of further
reporting requirements as suggested on Schedule B,
provide a sufficient basis to establish willfulness on
the part of the defendant.”24
In the civil context, a judicial interpretation of the
willfulness standard did not come until 2010, in
J.B. Williams.25 Following a bench trial, the Eastern
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District of Virginia held that the government failed to
meet its burden of establishing that Williams willfully
failed to disclose assets in a foreign account in violation of 31 USC §5314.26 In this non-published case,
the government sought to enforce its assessments of
two FBAR penalties against the Defendant Williams
for willfully failing to report his interest in two Swiss
bank accounts for tax year 2000. The court found
that willfulness was lacking—it held that the government did not “adequately account for the difference
between failing and willfully failing to disclose an
interest in a foreign bank account.”27
The court distinguished tax evasion from a violation of 31 USC §5314, explaining that the fact that
“Williams intentionally failed to report income in an
effort to evade income taxes is a separate matter from
whether Williams specifically failed to comply with
disclosure requirements contained in § 5314.”28 The
government sought to prove willfulness by arguing
that Williams’ signature on his Form 1040 is prima
facie evidence that he knew the contents of his tax return—which included a Schedule B with the question
regarding foreign accounts marked “No.”29 The court,
in citing to H.V. Mohney,30 (a “taxpayer’s signature on
a return does not in itself prove his knowledge of the
contents, but knowledge may be inferred from the
signature
with the surrounding circumstances
signatu
ure along
a
...”),
....”),
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co
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only
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nly
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m nderr of
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ccredib e
and should be given
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th n the
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that Williams checked the ‘No’ box.”31 The court thus
concluded that Williams’ failure to disclose alreadyfrozen assets in a foreign account was not an act
undertaken intentionally or in deliberate disregard
for the law, but instead constituted an understandable
omission given the context in which it occurred.

Recklessness
The court in Williams did not articulate a standard for
“willfulness” in the FBAR context, instead quoting the
Supreme Court in Safeco Insurance Co. of America v.
Burr, which noted that “‘willfully’ is a word of many
meanings whose construction is often dependent on
the context in which it appears” and that “[w]here
willfulness is a statutory condition of civil liability, it
is generally taken to cover not only knowing violations of a standard, but reckless ones as well.”32 Safeco
Insurance Co. interpreted willfulness in the context of
the Fair Credit Reporting Act. The court in Williams
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went on to quote the Fourth Circuit, which explained,
“At some point … a repeated failure to comply with
known regulations can move a [defendant’s] conduct
from inadvertent neglect into reckless or deliberate
disregard (and thus willfulness).”33
Although the government may rely on Safeco
Insurance Co. to argue that the willful standard can
be met by “recklessness,” this would be inconsistent
with long-established precedent defining willfulness
in tax and Bank Secrecy Act cases,34 and with the
IRS’ own position as expressed in the CCA and the
Internal Revenue Manual. The CCA concluded, based
on rules of statutory construction, that “willful” has
the same meaning in the civil context as it has in the
criminal context—a voluntary intentional violation
of a known legal duty.

Willful Blindness
The Internal Revenue Manual suggests that willful blindness may be enough to meet the “willful”
standard for FBAR violations. The Internal Revenue
Manual explains that “willfulness may be attributed
to a person who has made a conscious effort to avoid
learning about the FBAR reporting and recordkeeping requirements.”35 However, there has been no
FBAR case yet finding willfulness on the basis of
willful blindness. In other criminal tax cases, courts
have allowed a “willful blindness” instruction to be
given to the jury in limited circumstances. The willful blindness charge originates from a Ninth Circuit
decision,
C.D.
de
c s on, C.
D Jewell.36 In a controlled substance
case,
case the Ninth
Ninth Circuit held that “deliberate ignorance
and positive knowledge are equally culpable.”37 In
R. Stadtmauer, the court concluded that the general
rule that willful blindness may satisfy a knowledge
requirement applies in criminal tax prosecutions.38
To constitute willful blindness, though, the taxpayer
must “intentionally avoid” or “deliberately evade”
learning of his tax obligations—it is a state of mind
of “much greater culpability than simple negligence
or recklessness, and more akin to knowledge.”39

Lack of Willfulness as a Matter of Law
Where the law is uncertain, the willfulness element
of a criminal offense is not met “as a matter of law.”40
Given the uncertainty that has plagued the FBAR
area and the number of recent developments and
clarifications in the law, it is possible that in certain
situations a defendant’s failure to file an FBAR for
previous years could be considered non-willful as
a matter of law.
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Under the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment, a defendant cannot be charged with a crime
unless he was “given fair notice as to what constitutes
illegal conduct so that he may conform his conduct
to the requirements of the law.”41 When the law is
“highly debatable” or “unsettled by any clearly relevant precedent,” then a defendant lacks the requisite
intent to violate it.42 A defendant does not have fair
notice under the due process clause where the issue is “novel and unsettled by any clearly relevant
precedent.”43 In these situations, the defendant’s
actual intent becomes irrelevant.44
On February 24, 2011, the Financial Crimes
Enforcement Network (FinCEN) issued new regulations clarifying a number of issues relating to when
an FBAR is required to be filed.45 This guidance
and clarification was not available for FBAR forms
required for years 2009 and earlier. As a result, in
more complex or uncertain cases relating to earlier
years, a judge might find the FBAR law to have been
at that time “highly debatable” or “unsettled by any
clearly relevant precedent,” making the defendant
non-willful as a matter of law.

Signing a Return Is Not Enough
Question
Que
Q
estion 7
7(a) of Part III on the Form 1040 Schedule
B asked:
asked
k d: “At
“A any time
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“[s]ee instructions on back for exceptions and filing
requirements for Form TD F 90-22.1.”
The fact is that most taxpayers do not read their
return carefully, especially language on a schedule
that does not relate to any numbers on their return.
Many taxpayers use a tax preparer or a tax program
to prepare their returns and simply sign their returns
without reading through the return in detail. Complicating matters further is tax software that has “No” as
the default setting for Question 7(a) on Schedule B.
The IRS has asserted that a prima facie case of
willfulness can be established by the fact that a
taxpayer signed a return containing a Schedule B.47
The IRS relies on cases that state that a taxpayer’s
signature on a return is “prima facie evidence that
the signer knows the contents of the return.”48 The
IRS argues that because the taxpayer is deemed
to know the contents of his returns, he therefore
knew the return was false and was informed about
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the FBAR by Schedule B, even if the taxpayer did
not in fact read his return.49
Schedule B also provides the basis for the IRS to be
able to make a willful blindness argument in certain
cases. The Internal Revenue Manual offers as an example of willful blindness the situation in which a person
admits knowledge of and fails to answer the question
on Schedule B concerning signature authority over
accounts at foreign banks—as was the case in D.A.
Sturman.50 Because the question refers the taxpayer
to the instructions for Schedule B that provide further
guidance on FBAR filing obligations, the IRS maintains
that it is reasonable to assume that a person who has
a foreign bank account would read the information
specified by the government in the tax forms, making
the failure to do so evidence of willful blindness. The
IRM clarifies, though, that willful blindness cannot
be established by Schedule B alone—the failure to
learn of the filing requirements may constitute willful
blindness only if coupled with other factors. The IRM
states that “[t]he mere fact that a person checked the
wrong box, or no box, on a Schedule B is not sufficient, by itself, to establish that the FBAR violation
was attributable to willful blindness.”51
The other angle the IRS may take is to argue that
willfulness can be inferred by a taxpayer marking
“No” on Schedule B when they have a foreign account. The court in Sturman held that “[w]illfulness
may be proven through inference from conduct
meant to conceal or mislead sources of income or
other
other financial
nancial information.”52 Although not an FBAR
case,
thee T
Taxx Court
in P.W. Browning found that a
ca
se th
C
taxpayer concealed the existence of a foreign account in part by answering “No” to Question 7(a) on
Schedule B of his Form 1040. In Browning, the IRS
had imposed a fraud penalty in an employee leasing
arrangement. The IRS found that the taxpayer was in
constructive receipt of funds placed in a “deferred
compensation” account, in part because he had unrestricted access to the funds in the account through
a credit card issued by a Bahamas bank and funded
by a checking account opened at that same bank.
Despite his beneficial interest in this account, the
taxpayer marked “No” on Schedule B of his Form
1040. The Tax Court found that by marking “No,” the
taxpayer was concealing the account and held that
concealment to be an indicia of fraud supporting the
imposition of the civil fraud penalty.53
However, the fact that a taxpayer signed a return
with an erroneous “Schedule B” in and of itself should
not be sufficient to prove willfulness. To establish
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willfulness, the government must prove more—the
willfulness standard will not be met unless the surrounding facts and circumstances also support a
finding that the failure to file an FBAR was willful.

Other Surrounding Facts and
Circumstances
In Williams, no willfulness was found because, even
though the “No” box was checked on the taxpayer’s
Schedule B, the surrounding facts and circumstances
did not support that his failure to file a Form TD F
90-22.1 was knowing and intentional.54 In Sturman,
willfulness was established by the defendant’s knowledge of the question on Schedule B together with acts
to conceal his assets from the federal government.55
The Internal Revenue Manual states: “The mere fact
that a person checked the wrong box, or no box, on
a Schedule B is not sufficient, by itself, to establish
that the FBAR violation was attributable to willful
blindness.”56 These decisions are consistent with the
established law that signing a return is not enough
to prove knowledge of its contents.
The court in W.M. Bass held that the district court
erred in giving the following instruction to the jury:
Whenever the fact appears beyond a reasonable
doubt
from the evidence in the case that the
do
oub
bt ffr
defendant
you may draw
defen
ef nda
dan signed
igned
d his tax
ax return,
re
the
nd
he inference
infe
fere ce and
and fin
d that the defendant had
knowledge
of the
kn
now
wle
h contents of such return.57
The Seventh Circuit
C cuit reversed the
t e judgment of
o
conviction and remanded for a new trial, holding
that the jury instruction was not merely a rephrasing of the statement that appears at the bottom of
all tax returns (“I declare under penalties of perjury
that I have examined this return (including accompanying schedules and statements) and to the best
of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and
complete.”) and was not proper under the law.58 The
Seventh Circuit acknowledged that although the signing of a blank return “may be one element necessary
to convict a taxpayer of perjury,” it “cannot be said
that the effect of such statement is to attribute knowledge of the contents of the return to the taxpayer on
the basis of his signature alone.”59
The Seventh Circuit explained:
In Lurding v. United States, 179 F.2d 419, 421
(6th Cir. 1950), the court said that the taxpayer’s
signature has the effect of making the return his
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own, but knowledge of the contents must also
be proved aside from the willful intent to evade
taxes. We do not hold that a taxpayer can sign a
false return and escape liability by disclaiming
actual knowledge of the contents. Rather, we
conclude that it is improper to charge a taxpayer
with conclusive knowledge of the contents on the
basis of the signature alone. Knowledge may be
inferred from the facts and circumstances of the
case and certainly the signature at the bottom
of the tax return is prima facie evidence that the
signor knows the contents thereof. The court’s
instruction created a conclusive presumption
and it was in error.60
In J.L. Lurding, the defendant argued that his “understatement of his income was not made knowingly
or willfully, because he depended on an outside accountant to prepare his returns and believed them to
be accurate.”61 The Sixth Circuit found error with the
court’s instruction to the jury, which stated: “It is immaterial that the return may have been made out by
another person or that some other person may have assisted in the making of the return.”62 The court held:
It is true that the signing of the return by a taxpayer
makes it his return, and that if it is false and the
taxpayer knows it to be false, he violates the law
if he files it with the Collector willfully with an
intent to evade the payment of his tax, but where
the
off tthe offense is the willfulness of the
the crux
crux o
understatement
understateme it is not an immaterial circumstance that the taxpayer did not make out the
return, and it becomes immaterial only when the
government has established, by direct proof or by
circumstances, that the taxpayer knew or perhaps
should have known that the return was false.63
The court reversed the conviction and remanded
for a new trial, noting that the court’s instruction that
the best evidence of what a person intended to do
by an act is the act itself was also in error. The court
explained that “[t]here is no presumption that may
be drawn from the act itself—both knowledge and
willfulness must be established by independent proof,
direct or circumstantial.”64
In H.V. Mohney, the court explained that “[w]illfulness under section 7206 ‘requires proof of specific
intent to do something that the law forbids; more
than a showing of careless disregard for the truth is
required.’”65 The court held that:
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A taxpayer’s signature on a return does not in itself
prove his knowledge of the contents, but knowledge may be inferred from the signature along
with the surrounding facts and circumstances,
and the signature is prima facie evidence that the
signer knows the contents of the return.66
Examples of surrounding facts and circumstances
in the context of Code Sec. 7206 include “the defendant’s knowledge of the business’ revenues, his active
role in the operations, his hiring of the accounting
firm, and his payment of the taxes.”67
The holding in Mohney was followed in the case
J. Bilbrey, which stated that the willfulness element
of Code Sec. 7206(1) requires the government to
prove “specific intent to do something that the law
forbids; more than a careless disregard for the truth
is required.”68 If proven by circumstantial evidence,
the evidence should indicate that the “defendant
specifically intended to violate the tax statutes.”69
The court explained:
For example, the mere fact that a taxpayer has
signed a tax return “does not in itself prove his
knowledge of the contents[; however, this] knowledge
g may be inferred from the signature along
with
wiith the
the surroundingg facts and circumstances,
and
prima
facie evidence that the
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nd
d th
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ature is pri
ma fa
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knows
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of the return.”70
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these cases establish that the government must
prove more to satisfy its burden of establishing
willfulness. In the FBAR context, the court in
Williams relied on Mohney in holding that a taxpayer’s signature on a Form 1040 with an attached
Schedule B “does not itself prove his knowledge of
the contents.”71 The government has the burden of
proving the defendant’s actual knowledge of the
contents of his tax return and the duty to file the

FBAR form, though that knowledge can be inferred
from surrounding facts and circumstances.72
In Williams, the court held that the government
had failed to meet its burden of establishing that
Williams willfully failed to file an FBAR, despite
the fact that the defendant had pleaded guilty to
tax evasion and filed a Schedule B with the “No”
box checked. Among the factors considered by
the court in evaluating the surrounding facts and
circumstances was the fact that the accounts at issue had already been frozen at the government’s
request, indicating that Williams lacked any motivation to willfully conceal the accounts.73 The court
also found credible Williams’ testimony that he
only focused on the numerical calculations on his
returns and relied on his accountants to complete
the remainder of the return.74 The court concluded
that “upon examination of the surrounding facts
and circumstances presented at trial, the Court is
not persuaded that Williams was lying about his
ignorance to the contents of the Form 1040.”75

Conclusion
With the IRS’ recent commitment to international
compliance, we will see a rise in FBAR litigation,
both civil and criminal. In such cases, it will often be
undisputed that an FBAR form was not filed and that
the taxpayer signed a return containing a Schedule B.
These cases will turn on whether the taxpayer’s failure
to filee an
n FBAR
FBA
AR was willful. Given that the FBAR has
been
be
een
n a relatively
reelativvel unknown form until recently, the IRS
and the DOJ start with the fact that a Schedule B was
filed with taxpayers’ returns to establish the taxpayer’s
knowledge of the filing obligation. However, more
is required and that “more” is what counsel need
to focus on. To impose the draconian civil penalties
for a willful violation or prosecute someone for failing to file an FBAR, the government must be held to
the standard of proving that there was a voluntary,
intentional violation of a known legal duty.
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